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CAMBERWELL EMPIRE, Denmark Hill

1894 Opened as the Metropole Theatre

1906 Renamed the Empire

1918 Renamed the Camberwell Empire & Pictuladea
1924 Adapted for exclusive cinema use.

1937 Closed and demolished for road widening.

The Metropole was built in 1894 by J.B. Mulhollaadd designed not as &%
music hall, but as a high-class theatre for playd @pera. The very best of thj§

West End would be brought to Camberwell and peréann this elegant,
ornate and somewhat exclusive theatre. The arthiteere Bertie Crewe and
W.G. Sprague.

After ten years or so it seems the good peopleanfilizrwell were not so muclhz
interested in plays and operas as they were iretyariThe rival Camberwell
Palace across the street was continually packedusnohg away crowds eac
evening. In 1905 the Metropole was bought by ¥fade Frece as part of hi
growing music hall circuit in the South of Englan@hough most of his othe
venues were renamed “Hippodromes”, this one waamed “Empire”. By F
1914 Walter de Frece was running a circuit of l&atres. By the end of the i -
First World War public support for music halls Haflen away, and De Frece:
was more and more interested in politics. He hdrabmtrol of his circuit over i
to Charles Gulliver and most of the theatres wenmeverted into cinemas. Al
this point the Camberwell Empire was re-named fotufe Palace.

Walter was knighted in 1919 and as Sir Walter dec& became very grand.

He forced his wife, Vesta Tilley, to retire fromethhalls, and avoided all his old theatrical colleesgy He was
nicknamed “Sir Altered de Frece”. He eventuallydmee an MP. In 1937—after nearly twenty yeara amema
the building was demolished for road widening. éwnOdeon cinema was built further back on the sipening on
1939.

CAMBERWELL PALACE, Denmark Hlll

1896 Opened as the Oriental Palace of Varieties
1899 Rebuilt as the Camberwell Palace

1955 Closed

1956 Demolished

In 1896 the Oriental Palace of Varieties openedhis site. It was built by a
company under the famous comedian Dan Leno. Liftlknown of this
“Palace” and it seems to have lasted just threesyesatil it was reconstructed
by the architect E.A.E. Woodrow.

The new foundation stone was laid in July 1899 legtd Tilley—the first time

a variety comedienne had been given such an hoiberCamberwell Palace
opened in December 1899 as a rival to the existaghberwell Metropole.

The management passed into the hands of Charldisgbidy 1912. Six years
later Charles Gulliver gained control of the riGdmberwell Empire (g.v.) He
immediately converted the Empire into a cinema aodtinued to run the
Palace as a variety theatre

By 1928 the theatre was owned by Greater Londoraffée and Cinemas Ltd,
and by 1933 was a cine-variety, controlled by ABtd and used almost
exclusively for films.

It returned to variety during the War years but tye early 1950s was
struggling. Notwithstanding revues like Dicky Atdcand Mickey Warren’s
“Very Nice Too” with Woods and Jarrett, and a Hakgnsen rep season, it finally closed in 1955 awmalks later
demolished.




CAMBRIDGE THEATRE, Earlham Street

1930 Opened
1950 Redecorated
1988  Refurbished, restored and stage enlarged

Built in 1930 at a cost of £170,000, the Cambridgeeatre opened with—
Beatrice Lillie , Florence Desmond and Anton Dolm a production of g
“Charlot’'s Masquerade”. In the early days it foutifficulty in establishing a
role for itself and hosted seasons of plays, hafleh and a visit from the s
Comeédie Francaise. The Strauss operetta “A Nigh¥énice” ran for 400 &
performances in 1944, and then between 1946-1948Ctmbridge Theatre_#

was the home of the New London Opera Company. o)

In 1950 the Cambridge staged a revue “Sauce Piguaitich featured a 21§ =
year old unknown Audrey Hepburn in the chorus. ther next ten years or s(gx 5
the theatre housed a series of plays including lang for “The Reluctant
Debutante” and Albert Finney in “Billy Liar". Thearly 60s saw successt;- =
musicals like “Half a Sixpence” with Tommy Steelé&
CAMBRIDGE  and Ingrid Bergman, Michael Redgrave and Emlyn
FHERTEE Williams in “A Month in the Country”, but by 196&as used as a cinema.
I -~ In 1968 John Hanson restored the theatre’s fortuitdsrevivals of “The Desert Song” and
: | “The Student Prince”, and in the early 1970s thé¢idwal Theatre, with Laurence Olivier
and Maggie Smith, played at the Cambridge.
-HASSQW A mix of farces, musicals and star name plays saiwough to a major refurbishment in
i e 1988—after which it was predominantly used for maks, including a three-year run of
“Grease” and just under a year of Andrew Lloyd Wetkh“The Beautiful Game”.

It was notably owned by Emile Littler, but is cuntly part of Really Useful Theatres.

CAMDEN THEATRE, Camden Town +

1900 Opened as the Camden Theatre

1914 Renamed the Camden Hippodrome

1924 Closed and became a cinema.

1953 Became BBC Studios.

1977 Re-named the “Mean Machine”

1981 Converted into a disco.

1994 Renovated

2005 Major renovation and re-opened as the Koko

Originally the theatre, licensed as a music halad a \J xﬁ
promenade and winter garden. The young Charlie iBha, SR
appeared here before going to Hollywood and becgrairworld—famous film-star. In 1908 the managenp&t
Arthur, was convicted of a breach of his termsicgnise by presenting “sketches”. (These “sketchesfe shortened
versions of plays and were much resented by thenede theatres.) By the mid-1920s the Camden ffaeauffered
the fate of so many, and was forced to becomeenwn By the 1950s it was facing demolition, but waged when
the BBC took it over as recording studios. Mosthaf famous “Goon Show” programmes
were recorded here.

In 1977 the BBC finally gave up the lease and tieatre was converted into a live music
venue called the Mean Machine. This was the enqauok music, and the venue hosted
many bands of that age. In 1981 it was re-devel@sea disco/dance hall and much of the
original fabric was destroyed in this conversiorowdver, the foyer still contained a
bronze plaque of Ellen Terry.

Around this time the exterior of the building rees a Grade Il listing. As the building
entered its second century it was given a multlionilpound renovation and re-opened as
a live music/nightclub venue named “Koko”. Theaoeated building bears a blue plaque
commemorating the final Goon Show recording of 19®2s not known if Ellen Terry’s
plague is still there.

www.derelictlondon.com




CANTERBURY HALL, Lambeth

1848 Existed as a singing room in the Canterbumgr

1852 The first Canterbury Hall built over the dkitalley.

1854 A much enlarged hall built around the exisgpgce.
1858 Further enlarged with an art gallery and estgper room
1867 Some reconstruction and possibly a prosceanem
1876 Completely rebuilt as the Canterbury Theatiéavieties.
1890 Major alterations by Frank Matcham

1927 Closed

1940 Reopened for a short period

1942 Destroyed by bombs

Opened in 1852 as a music hall adjoining the Chotgr Arms in
Westminster Bridge Road by Charles Morton, the tagar known as the
“Father of the Halls”, and his brother-in-law, Feeidk Stanley.
Originally it operated on Thursdays and Saturdayy,owith free
admission. A much enlarged hall (architect Sankirld) opened half-
built in December 1854 and was completed in Jant8Bp. It held 700
people, far and away the biggest pub hall ever.s@édre public paid an
admission fee. The “chairman” was John Caulfieid ahe musical
director was a Mr Jonghmann. Early in 1863 a Musssell sang
selections from Gounod’s “Faust” before the opess wremiered at Her
Majesty’s.

The hall was continually being enlarged and impdoveln 1858 a
vestibule, staircase, supper room and an Art Galiare added. In the
redecoration of 1867 the new carpets alone cofi0D0guineas. By now
most of its classical programme had given way t@imball comics like
George Leybourne—Champagne Charlie. It is posdiée¢ the 1867
renovation incorporated the Canterbury’s first pesgum arch.

A £40,000 rebuilding in 1876 (architect A. Bridgam) saw the
Canterbury become one of the most fashionable Isouséondon. Its
mixture of full ballet presentations with spectasuscenes together with
all the great music-hall names of the age causegtiblic to flock to it.
It was even visited by the Prince of Wales and mayal visitors. In
1890 it was reconstructed by Frank Matcham, andemweint further
alterations in 1902.

The end of the Music Hall era saw the end of thet&bury, and it
finally disappeared under a German bomb in 194he @riginal 1854
entrance in Upper Marsh survived, but this wasrele@avith the remains
in 1955.

(Based on information supplied by John Earl)

The Canterbury in 1854, built on the old skittléegl
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The second Canterbury Hall, completed in 1855



C4
CARLTON THEATRE, Haymarket

1927 Opened as a theatre

1931 Became a cinema

1977 Backstage and stage areas demolished and
rebuilt as offices

1979 The cinema was “tripled”, destroying the
original auditorium.

1985 Foyer badly damaged by fire. Rebuilt

2008 Used for a “one-off” live theatre show

The 18th Century Carlton Stables on the west

side of Haymarket had been developed into

shops and offices by the 1920s, after which the

area was cleared to create a new theatre, to be
named the Carlton. It was only the second completelv theatre to be built after the Great War {irst was
the Fortune) and it opened in April 1927.

It was designed by Verity and Beverley in Italianatyle, with a deep stage, an orchestra pit andrdgsing
rooms. It was the first theatre in London to becainditioned, via a complicated water chiller glabhe first
production was “Lady Luck” under the managementaddie Clift and Edgar O'Brien and it ran for 324
performances. However, it was not a lucky theafrbe following year saw two productions, “Goodvix
and “The Yellow Mask”.

These were followed by a revival of “The Merry Wiwdband then a revue with George Robey. After that
building was wired for sound and became a fulletininema. (The last time the theatre was used fivea
show was in 1960 when Anthony Newley gave a vapetformance followed by a showing of his film “lset
Get Married”.

In 1977 the cinema closed. A campaign to “lis# thuilding and return it to theatre use failed.e Btage end

of the theatre was demolished and used for offickdings, while the cinema section remained intiat
unused. In 1979 the cinema was “tripled” and reegerand was later renamed the Cannon Haymarke¢. Th
building was badly damaged by fire in 1985 and mngas suspected. It was duly restored.

In 2008 the venue returned to “one-off”’ live tlreause with a production of Noel Coward’s “Brief
Encounter”. The original film had been premieréthé cinema in 1946, and now a stage versionareated
switching seamlessly between theatre and film uaiegmbination of Coward’s original stage play [IStife”

and the screenplay of “Brief Encounter”. The “flayas set inside a cinema, where the audience was
watching a film. It was an ingenious and highlgeessful production.

CASTLE THEATRE, Richmond

1890 Opened as the New Richmond Theatre in cort/étteel Assembly Rooms
1895 Renamed the Theatre Royal and Opera House

1899 Closed and the name transferred to a newlyrepiacement

1910 Reopened as the Castle Electric Theatre attlasa cinema.

1925c¢ Closed and later demolished.

The Castle Theatre in Whittaker Avenue, Richmonds the brainchild of local businessman, F.C.Moulfli
was created in one of his Castle Hotel assemblgnsooThe actual Castle Hotel had been demolisheigret
provide a suitable site for the new Richmond Tovail Hvhich opened three years later.

The “New Richmond Theatre” (later called the Thed®oyal and Opera House) opened on 7 April 189%e T
prologue was spoken by Lillie Langtry, and the éasluded a then unknown Mrs Patrick Campbellwdts a
very simple construction and lacking in any kincegfravagance, but from the very beginning it wasiecess .

Encouraged by the popularity of his venture anditsygrowing profits, Mr Moulflet decided to build a
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permanent theatre and purchased a
suitable site facing the Little Green. He

engaged Frank Matcham as his architect.
The replacement theatre took a year to
build and cost £30,000. (See under
Richmond Theatre)

The Castle Theatre was unused for
theatrical purposes for the next ten years,
but was then converted as a cinema in
1910. The cinema closed in the mid
1920s and was later demolished.

CHANTICLEER THEATRE

This ran as a 130 seat Club Theatre in Clareviitee$ during the Second World War years.
It was originally called the Webber Douglas Theatiteen from 1937 was named the
Chanticleer. The programme for 1940 stated “Tha®enises and equipment are rented,
during its temporary absence in the country, fram\Webber-Douglas School of Singing and
Dramatic Art”.

It soon reverted to exclusive use as a privatettbedtached to the drama school

CHELSEA PALACE

1903 Opened as the Chelsea Palace of Varieties
1957 Became a TV Studios
1966 Demolished

The Chelsea Palace, at numbers 232-242 King's Ragggned on
13th April 1903. It was designed by Oswald Wwlsend Charles
Long in baroque style with a capacity of 2,524 falls, circle and
boxes, and gallery. In the autumn of 1909 Marieydl appeared
there. Her act was considered so vulgar that gp@nt was made to
the London County Council.

It also housed straight plays and ballet, though ®33 it began to be
used frequently as a cinema. In 1925 it wasrtakeer by Variety
Theatres Consolidated and resumed mostly livetrtdeaork.

In 1955 the theatre was sold to Granada Cinemag s not used

for films and remained as a live theatre. In Mal@57 it closed

temporarily because of financial difficulties, lnetopened when Jack
Hylton took a short lease for the English Stage @amy's production of “The Country Wife” by Wycheylavhich
was transferred from the Adelphi Theatre. Afteit gtzort season in 1ceased to be used as a liveehea



The TV Studio floor has been built out over théssta
The audience sat in the circle and balcony whiciv no
held a maximum of 639 people.
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In September 1957 it was renamed the Chelsea Gaaaad
leased to Granada Television. The interior was fremtlifor

television production and it spent the next eighang as a

TV

Studio. Chelsea Palace was the last of the greaddn theatre
conversions to TV Studios. (The others were Saeps Bush
Empire (BBC), Wood Green Empire (ATV) , and Hackne

Empire (ATV))

A programme from 1914, with George Formby (SniChelsea was so much a part of Granada that it keéstodio
and Albert Chevalier on the bill 10’ in the company’s eccentric hierarchy, in whiSdney
Bernstein stipulated that studios were to be givaly even

numbers to create a heightened impression of grandeChelsea Palace provided a home for progn@snsuch
as The Army Game and the prestigious variety shesi€helsea at Nine, as well as for one-off spetaesuch

as a 1963 concert featuring the Duke Ellington @stta.

When Granada eventually vacated the Palace, itak&s over by developers who built a branch offthaiture

store Heal's on the site.

CHEPSTOW THEATRE, Notting Hill

A private Club Theatre which was running in 1948aasvo-weekly
rep.

The premises, at 18, Chepstow Villas, were varipugven as
Notting Hill and/or Kensington. See further detaismder Gate
Theatre, Kensington.

CHINA HALL THEATRE, Rotherhithe

fl.1660s Mentioned in the Diary of Samuel Pepys.
1778 Recorded performance by GeorgedfiddCooke

Used as a place of entertainment from the Restardéind possibly earlier?) a Theatre was constluctéhe
pleasure gardens adjoining the China Hall Tavefarbel778. A playbill of this date gives the psces Boxes
3/-; Pit 2/-;Gallery 1/-. No further details aredumn.



Chiswick District Library

c7

CHISWICK EMPIRE

1912 Opened
1959 Closed.
1960 Demolished

A Frank Matcham Theatre, the Chiswick Empire opeater a battle with
local residents who claimed it would “lower the ¢onof the

neighbourhood”. In its very first year (on 19th Aisg, 1913) it suffered a
fire that destroyed the stage and damaged mucheofatiditorium. The
repairs took several months, and the theatre resmpen 15th November,
1913.

In 1932 it was used as a cinema for a short tinu,sloon returned to
variety. Along with all theatres it was closed bgwrnment Order when
war was declared in September 1939 . It openechagai20th November
1939, but closed in mid 1940 during the heighthaf Blitz. By November
1941 it was back in business and carried on throufgthe rest of the war.

On Easter Monday 1947 there was a bizarre incidésen a four year boy climbed out of a lavatory vand
during the second house that night. He fell
onto a ledge and was trapped fifty feet in the
air. He was rescued in an act of great bravery
by the theatre's fireman and electrician. On
15th September that same year , just as the
second house was about to start, a large part
of the ceiling plasterwork fell, hitting the
Circle rail and bouncing into the stalls.
Fourteen people were injured, four with
serious injuries.

The building was repaired and opened in
time for the annual pantomime. The
Chiswick Empire survived another twelve
years, and was finally defeated by the
competition from television. The last
show—on 29th June 1959—starred the
American pianist and showman, Liberace.
The following year the building was
demolished and replaced with offices called
"Empire House".

CHURCHILL THEATRE, Bromley
1977 Opened

It opened as a replacement for the burnt down Nbeaire, Bromley (g.v.). With
785 seats, it was originally used as a major repgttheatre with the occasional
visiting touring production. In recent years iepertory use has declined and in
2000 it was taken over by the Ambassador Theatmugsand used chiefly as a
national touring and major producing venue.

The building originally contained elaborate stagachinery in the German style
allowing movement of built sets from the basemett sides of the stage. This is
now rarely used and the basement has become ahlvpriasea.
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CITY OF LONDON THEATRE, Bishopsgate

1837 Opened

1868 Closed

1871 Burnt down

1874 Rebuilt as the Grand Central Hall
1887 Became a Temperance Hall

Built in Norton Folgate, adjoining the
Bishopsgate, it was designed by Beazley, architect
of the Lyceum. Its stage was 30 feet wide by 38
feet deep, the first circle had fifteen boxes. The
gallery accommodated 400 and the pit 650. The
opening production was an adaptation of Dickens’
“Pickwick”. For the first ten years of its life fitad

a series of different managers and a somewhat
chequered history.

Victoria and Albert Museum

In 1848 it was taken over by Nelson Lee an City of London Theatre, 1837
Johnson—two men with a background in pop!

theatre, especially portable booths. Their poliags

to introduce very cheap tickets—Gallery 3d, Pit Bldeir annual pantomimes were a great successtasttier
times the theatre became a popular venue with nteading performers. By 1867 Lee had retired argd hi
successors seemed to lack his popular touch, i si introducing such novelties as Burton’s Clyrist
Minstrels. By 1868 the theatre had become nothioge than a “penny gaff’ (g.v.) and it closed. tRdrthe
site was sold to the Great Eastern Railway foesension to nearby railway premises. Followingra in
1871, the former stage area was re-developed tordhway, and a new hall was built on the sitettod
auditorium. The hall was used as a soup kitchenlaer became a Temperance Hall.

CITY THEATRE, Grub Street

1829 Converted from an old chapel. Also callesl@ity Pantheon
1836 Closed and was used as a warehouse

John Bedford, a popular comedian, was the instigatd first manager of this converted chapel inklG8treet
(later re-named Milton Street). However, he wasswecessful. His successor was able to attrane ssiar
names—Ellen Tree, James Vining and Edmund Kean—dahdtage some very popular shows— “Love in a
Village” and “Black Eye’'d Susan” -but the theatiegaoged hands again by 1831. At this time it camae t
partnership deal with the Coburg Theatre (latenvikmas the Old Vic). The same companies would apaea
both theatres, sometimes on the same night andj bksinsported between venues by hackney carriades—t
actors would change their costumes en route.

Throughout its life the City Pantheon suffered frolne Patent Theatre rules, and was forced to edédor
subterfuges like selling the tickets from a coffieeise across the road and not in the theatre. ithedlso had a
reputation as a very rough house. During a perdoca of “Richard III” a writer in “Figaro in Londdn
recorded that Mr Moss, the leading actor: ‘“reaslfhrt with great judgement but . . . He didndlfdisposed
to put forth his genius in the presence of thedyinking gang that had groped into the various ssee of the
house. . .. An old hag next us swallowed a pimnta@f rum in our presence and sundry other atrociats of
hoggery were committed in our actual presence.fi o®e occasion when the doors of the gallery wpsned
there was a wild rush for the front seats, anduakizn young patron was killed when he fell overrdits into
the pit forty feet below. On another occasion #lbavas thrown from the gallery into the pit arelsed the
death of a fifteen year old girl.

After just seven years the theatre failed. Thenses were sold for 310 guineas. The advertisemitite

sale said the property was “commodiously adaptedht® accommodation of one thousand persons, wihye
requisite appurtenance such as salon, greenroondratee, properties and fittings, the whole leaselffok

fifteen years at two hundred guineas ground renthe new owner turned it into the Milton Streedtltution,

a benevolent establishment for the improvementookly—but early in 1836 this too failed. The builgiwas
demolished and warehouses were erected on the site.
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CLAPHAM GRANADA

1937 Opened as a cine-variety

1973 Tripled

1980 Re-converted to one auditorium for bingo
1991 Renamed the Gala

1997 Closed

1998 Obtained Grade Il Listing

2000 Disused. Future uncertain

The original interior design was by Theodore
Komisarjevsky, and the building had 2,475 seat$. |
opened 8 Nov 1937 with Victor McLaglen as the guest
of honour. The theatre had full stage facilitersd
eighteen dressing rooms. The extensive capaaitijvio
shows was aimed at competing with the rival Clapham
Grand, which combined films with variety. For sealer
years the Granada offered three big acts every piek

a double-bill of films. During the summer of 1988
staged a live production of “Snow White” followeg Clapham Granada, Interior, 1937 . Photo by Alleylds
films.

Each year from 1947 to 1952 it staged an annuat&&i@ Pantomime. These pantomimes would “tourGrenada
circuit—playing a week each in other Granada Ciremdhe usual tour was Tooting, Sutton, Woolwicld an
Clapham. Clapham was dropped from this circuit @3. Following its Grade Il Listing a whole serief
proposals have been made for its future use. destlinvolves building a block of residential apsmts on top of
the cinema, but preserving the interior for useabghurch organisation. These plans were well addontil the
economic crisis of 2008-2009, which caused the ldgees to withdraw from the scheme. The future aigmm
uncertain.

CLAPHAM GRAND, Clapham Junction

1900 Opened as the New Grand Theatre of Varieties
1909 Reconstructed as the Grand Palace of Varieties
1931 Converted to cinema (later renamed Essoldo)
1972 Converted to bingo hall

1991 Reopened as disco and live music venue

The architect was E.A.Woodrow—and this is the osuyviving example of
his work. The great Dan Leno, in partnership widrbert Campbell, were
amongst the original backers of this venture. Damo had earned
considerable sums from his great success in panmtesiat Drury Lane
(eventually he was to do fifteen successive seaseétesinvested large sums
in several
new music
halls—the
Granville,
Walham

Green, the Camberwell Palace, the Croydon

Empire and this one—the New Grand Theatre of

Varieties in Clapham.

By 1931 it had become a cinema. In the early
1970s it was converted for use as a bingo hall and
was used as such for the next twenty years.

The 1991 conversion to a live music venue was

sensitively carried out and much of the fabric
remains intact.

Clapham Grand,, circa 1905
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CLAPTON PARK THEATRE

1872  Opened as the Clapton Park Theatre
1877 Renamed the Hackney Theatre
1884  Closed

Designed by J.T. Robinson and built for Thomas &grthe theatre in Glenarm Road, Hackney had & &feof just
twelve years. It had a seating capacity of 590vem tiers. Robinson was the father-in law of Fram&tcham, and
when he died in 1878 Matcham took over the familgibess. Robinson’s major remaining works include®Id Vic
and the Theatre Royal, Margate. It was renamedHtekney Theatre in 1876 and was later called theairl Royal,
Hackney. It closed in 1884, and was used brieflthe Clapton Park Tabernacle. By 1894 the buildigems to have
been demolished.

COCKPIT, Church Street, NW8
1951 Opened
1970 Reconstructed and adapted for educational use

In 1951, Ann Jellicoe set up the Cockpit Theatr&bCla Sunday

theatre club, to explore working in an “open” theaspace. The

Club’s premises were in Gateforth Street/Churclee&tMarylebone.

Ann Jellicoe sometimes wrote her own material - pHeodite’s

Delight” (1952) - and sometimes directed estabtisiwerks - Molnar’s

“Olympia” (1953). Occasionally the Club would stage work in a

bigger venue, especially the Portcullis Theatre.g. In 1953 Ann

Jellicoe left to work at the Royal Court (g.v.) ndabecame a successful playwright with “The SpérMy Mad
Mother” and “The Knack”.

The Cockpit continued intermittently until 1970 wh# was reconstructed for educational purposesoinjunction
with the City of Westminster College of Further Edtion. It was the home of a Children’s Theatranany
throughout the 70s. It has a flexible seating lad can accommodate between 120 and 240 people.

COCKPIT-IN COURT, Whitehall

1630 Converted from a former cockpit dating frora time of Henry VIII
1664 Converted for other use when the Theatre R@yaly Lane opened.

Not to be confused with the Cockpit in Drury Lattgs early cock-fighting pit was created during teegn of Henry

VIIl. There are no records to suggest that it wsed for the presentation of plays during this titheugh there is a
reference in the Revels Office Accounts of 157¢htovery large sum of £38.6s.8d being spent ow#is and other
necessaries. .. Baskettes to carry the flowers,roprd and lights” for the reception of the DucMentmorency.

This suggests the area was used for more thaoquktfighting. By 1607 there is written evidenaf a children’s

company performing at the Cockpit in Court, andlBill the space underwent some alteration to accalaimo
regular Christmas and New Year productions. InOl#& Cockpit-in-Court underwent a major rebuildiogreate a
new entertainment area for King Charles |. The gtesiwere by Inigo Jones and the building set newdstrds in

theatrical magnificence with its Palladian staggaffe and sumptuous décor. It was used througheut@80s, and
certainly “Julius Caesar” and “Merry Wives of Wimd$are known to have been performed there.

Larger theatrical “State” presentations were

given at St James’s Court, but the Cockpit-in-

Court was a regular venue for command

performances by the King’s Men. It is not clear if

it was ever used for public performances. It

closed in 1642 along with all other theatres, and
returned to occasional use after the Restoration in
1660. By 1664 when the Theatre Royal in

Bridges Street (Drury Lane) opened, the Cockpit
seems to have ceased all theatre use.

Said to be Inigo Jones’ designs for the CockpEaurt
The authenticity of these designs is subject tchmuc
scholarly discussion—with some questioning both the

authorship and identification of the original dravgs.
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COCKPIT, Drury Lane

1609 Opened as a venue for cockfights

1616 Converted into a roofed theatre by Christojdessston
1617 Burnt down in a riot

1618 Rebuilt and reopened as the Phoenix.

1642 Closed by Government order.

1660 Re-opened with the Restoration

1665 Closed

Christopher Beeston wanted to move his acting @myp

from the innyard at the Red Bull to a “proper playse”. He

spent a very large sum converting the cock-fighttenue in

Drury Lane into a “proper playhouse” and to reccup

outlay, he increased his ticket prices sixfold. spiee much

grumbling, the public seems to accept this untd #mnual

Shrove Tuesday _Apprentices Holiday in 1617. Thealsu Suggested elevation of the Phoenix from
rowdy merry-making turned ugly when a drunken mdb o contemporary vignettes

young men decided they would not pay the new pried

forced their way into the theatre. A fight brokét between the actors and the apprentices. Thisdunto a full-
scale riot, and the theatre—not yet a year old—wadly damaged by vandalism and fire. It was retaunt re-
named the Phoenix—though the old name continuebletaised (and thus caused much confusion to future
historians!)

Prof. Glynne Wickham/John Chamberlain

Christopher Beeston became a favourite of Kingriéka, gained a royal theatre position (as directfoa very

early version of a Royal drama school) and wasaabie obtain the first “Theatre Royal” licence the Phoenix.
He died suddenly in 1639. His son, William, tooken and made the mistake of putting on an unliednday

which deeply offended the King. William Beestonsvarested and imprisoned .His official post arehtie was
handed over to William Davenant, a new royal faiteu Davenant already owned a nearby plot of land
Brydges Street (Drury Lane) and decided to builel hew “Theatre Royal” on his site, not on the sitehe

Phoenix.

However, the Civil War broke out before any of th@uld happen, and all theatres were closed by Govent
order. All performances were banned under thetd#hsi Some secret, illegal plays were stagedita&hoenix
was raided by Parliamentary soldiers in 1649. Tihgyosed “on the spot” fines on the audience, ai@cted the
sum of £3/11/4d. The Phoenix re-opened with Restoration of Charles II. It was used jointjy@avenant
and Killigrew, then by visiting French performersdadater under the management of George Jolly.weder, the
opening of the new Theatre Royal in Drury Lane @3 meant the Phoenix’s days were numbered. uggted
on for another eighteen months before finally eigsi

COLLINS' MUSIC HALL

1862 Opened as Lansdowne Music Hall in LansdowmasAr
1863 Enlarged and renamed Collins’ Music Hall

1885 Enlarged

1897 Auditorium completely rebuilt

1908 Damaged by fire. Repaired as Islington Hippog
1911 Renovated and reverted to old name, Collin’s.

1931 Further renovation.

1958 Burnt down and demolished

The facade was restored and the building usedaskshop.

This was one of London’s leading music-halls. A#nevery star name from
variety and music hall would have appeared at @glit some point in their
careers.

Sam Collins
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Sam Collins, whose real name was Sam Vagg. hadhbegrking as a
chimney-sweep, but soon found his singing of llisilads and comic
songs much more profitable. He earned enough mtmbéwyy a share
in the Lansdowne Arms in lIslington, and thus wake @b alternate
between serving drinks to his customers and emértathem with his
songs.

In 1863 he set about enlarging the pub into a mhalic which opened
as Collins’ Music Hall that same year. This wa%ang and supper”
room very much in the established manner of the.tinsam Collins
died at the age of 39, just three years after ayge@ollins’ Music Hall.
His gravestone in Kensal Green has carved pictafeghe hat,
shillelagh and shamrock with which he always appear

(Over the years many people claimed to have seergtiost of an
affable old Irishman. He appeared frequently amdhli the rebuilt
venues. Marie Lloyd said he once appeared in Inessthg room,
smiled at her, and then walked through the wall. )

Sam’s widow, Anne, took over the management fominet few years,
but in 1868 relinquished control to Henry Watts,owlater sold it to
Herbert Sprake. It was Herbert Sprake who und&rtin@ major
Collins Music Hall, - the 1863 building enlargement of the building in 1885. However,pites of its luxurious
decoration, it remained very much a “song and stippem, while at
the same time becoming one of the most successtulpapular of
London’s music halls.

In 1897 it was demolished and reconstructed —time tmore in
keeping with the variety theatre style which wasvrin demand by
the growing middle classes. The architect was EWoodrow. At
this time the building was renamed Collins’ Theatf&/ arieties.

In 1908 the building was seriously damaged by fifdne auditorium
was completely rebuilt with six circle boxes remdyeand the venue
was given the grander name of the Islington Hippodr. Audiences
still referred to it as “Collins’s” and the managent reverted to the
old name in 1911 after it had closed for a shetiqu for some
renovation work. However, during the First WoNdar it was

occasionally advertised as the Islington Hippodrome

In 1931 the theatre underwent further building worland the
installation of new heating and ventilation. Thetdines of Collins’s
varied over the years. In the beginning it wasremusly successful
and was host to performers like Marie Lloyd, Clea@haplin and
Wilkie Bard. It was the theatre where Gracie Fatdade her London
debut and Tommy Cooper his first professional apgece, and its
loss was much lamented.
Collins Music Hall, circa 1908 Like many variety theatres of the time it suffe@derious decline in
the 1950s. Its future was very much in questioemit was destroyed by fire in September 1958 al wot the first
failing variety theatre to be destroyed in an oighhfire during the difficult years of the late 3®s, and, at the time,
rumours abounded that the fire might have beeneldetm its way. The facade was subsequently restmd the
building was used as a bookshop

In 1997 an appeal was launched to rebuild the thest an arts centre, performing space and adrgalllt would
serve as a London home for productions from Stratm Avon’s Swan Theatre, Manchester's Royal Bxrcfe
and other regional theatres. A Lottery bid for £ddlion was submitted. However, nothing came lefde plans.
Plans for redeveloping the site were approved BDB2W0ith a basement theatre to be included in #ve structure.



COLISEUM, St. Martin’s Lane

1904
1931
1951
1961
1968
2004
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Opened as the London Coliseum
Renamed the Coliseum

Used as a Cinerama cinema
Major renovation for Sadlers Wells
£41 million restoration.

Designed by Matcham, this was Oswald Stoll's

pleasure palace—the
them all.

music hall to outclass
Everything was luxurious, lavish,
splendid and elegant. No vulgarity of any kind
was allowed. The shows were magnificent, the
surroundings resplendent enough for visiting
royalty.

J & C Joel, Ltd

The London Coliseum in 2004 restored to its origgwour scheme

Within a few years it became clear that it did not

attract the working and lower middle-class audisnitet were the mainstay of the music hall—andntiomeyed
and upper classes would shy away from anything kimgof “music hall” and lower class tastes. Stoiéd a
lavish spectacle emulating the Folies Bergere. t Tdiled. Then he hit on the “variety” format—tafass names
like Marie Lloyd, Little Tich and Vesta Tilley, iatspersed with “legitimate” names like Sarah Berdhalily
Langtry and Ellen Terry. This odd combination whéhe trial scene from Shakespeare’s “Merchant efise”
could follow an act of performing dogs worked wetitil the early 1930s, when the Coliseum changgedtyle and

staged a full-scale musical, “The White Horse Inn”.

In 1942 Stoll died, aged 76. Prince Littler boutt theatre and carried
on with musicals. In 1947 “Annie Get Your Gun” lagga three year run.
Musical hits followed up to 1961, after which th®lSeum was taken
over by MGM and a Cinerama screen was installelde theatre was used
as a cinema for the next six years. A major ration took place in 1967
to enable the Sadlers Wells Opera Company to mateethe West End.

Their previous home at the Sadlers Wells theattsliisgton was proving

to be too small and too far out to attract the encés.

On 21 August 1968 the renovated building openeti Witon Giovanni”
in a new production by John Gielgud. It was natritical success, and
many of the transferred revivals using old scet@oked ridiculous on the
huge stage of the Coliseum: “like a pimple on lpleant’s back” said
one critic. However, the audiences flocked to tiesv opera house—
cheaper, more accessible, less stuffy than the IR@para. Its policy of
performing the works in English—including a compleRing Cycle in
English, and unfamiliar epics like Prokofiev's “Wand Peace” - assured
it of critical as well as popular support. In 1% Sadlers Wells Opera
Company was renamed the English National Opera.

As the building’s centenary approached, the Colisemas involved in
controversy. It needed major renovation and camnaille enlargement if
it was to remain a world class opera house. It suggested that the opera
company should move out completely and perform jrugose built new
venue to be created elsewhere. However, a majbuilding and
renovation scheme began in 2002 was completed lmugey 2004 at a
cost of £41 million.. The London Coliseum is noweoof the most
magnificent theatres in Western Europe.

An important feature of the original stage was assn& triple revolve,

powered from the local tramway. Although the m@iechanism has long
since been removed, the top surface remains uhddalse stage used for
opera and the running rails are buried under samt c@ncrete in the
basement.
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COLOSSEUM, Regent’s Park
(See also: DIORAMA, Regent’s Park)

1824 Opened as the Colosseum Diorama and Exhitspane
1841 The Colosseum Theatre was added at the rear
1864 Closed

1875 Demolished

More research is needed. There were two sepanaitdings in

Regent’'s Park, both called The Colosseum. Neithes avreal theatre.

The first originated as the Colosseum Diorama axhilition Space, a

venture financed by Robert Glindon, a successfufyseriter and scene
painter. He was mostly responsible for the hugea@ia “London by Night” which was the opening attiat of the
Colosseum, and he followed this with “Earthquak&iabon”. Although it was not designed as a thegplays were
occasionally staged between 1830 and 1840 undendmagement of Braham and Frederick Yates, whamedahe
building the Colosseum Theatre.

Inspired by the success of the occasional playymiah, James Howard Tully, a composer and comediecided to
build an 800 seat purpose built concert-hall amditife behind the Diorama . This building, withh@anfage in Albany
Street, Regent's Park was also named the Colos3dwwatre. It seems to have been used for a vemt pkood

(perhaps a few months only) for performances byyTltlwas run on a “profit-share” basis and eacil&y the actors
would gather for their percentage share of the vgetalkings after expenses. Within a short while #ctors left for
jobs with guaranteed wages and the venture faifest pust three months.  Both venues remained-asionally

rented out— but seemingly unused most of the tifleey closed in 1864 and the derelict propertiesevdemolished
eleven years later.

COMEDY THEATRE, Panton Street

1881 Opened as the Royal Comedy Theatre
1933  Renovated
1955 Reconstructed. New canopy and other alteiation

When the Royal Comedy Theatre opened it set itgelis a rival to the five day
old Savoy Theatre. To counter the attractiontod Gilbert & Sullivan operettas,
the Comedy staged Anglicised “French” operetta.

Within a few years the Comedy gave up operettasfaaight plays. Herbert

Beerbohm Tree had his first success as an actoagearwith “The Red Lamp”.

Sarah Bernhardt played seasons as Sardou’'s “Tomed”as Fedora. John
Barrymore made his London debut in 1905, and GedaldMaurier had great
success as “Raffles”. The Comedy then became iassdavith the plays of W.

Somerset Maugham, and spent the early First Worlt Yars with a long-

running “Peg of My Heart”. The Comedy then stafgues—Jack Buchanan,
Douglas Byng, Hermione Gingold and Hermione BaddeMaggie Smith and

Kenneth Williams were various artists appearingdha a time span from 1918
to 1957. The Comedy was synonymous with “revues”.

In 1958 the theatre converted itself into a “pr@/atiub. This was to circumvent the British Thea@ensorship laws.
By now the Lord Chamberlain’'s censorship powers ewer
generally regarded as ludicrous, but the Governmaistslow
to move. Accordingly plays like “A View from theriBige”,
“Tea and Sympathy” and “Cat on a Hot Tin Roof” wetaged
there for “club members” only.

Further controversial and challenging plays wereéR-inger
Exercise”, “Fortune and Men’s Eyes” and “A Day hetDeath
of Joe Egg".

In 1979 the Comedy had another change of stylepamded

a West End home for the musical “The Rocky Horrbo\’,

followed by another musical “Little Shop of Horrtrs

Through much of the 80s and 90s the Comedy housed a

number of plays by Harold Pinter. “The Caretakei®o

Man’s Land”, “Moonlight”, “The Hothouse” and “The
Comedy Theatre, O_ri_ginal Design 1881. _The grouoor fdesign was Homecoming" were all staged there—and “The Caretake

modified before construction began. received a most successful revival in 2000.
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COMMODORE, Hammersmith

1929 Opened as a cine-variety
1963 Cinema closed and converted for bingo
1982 Demolished

The Commodore Cine-Variety Theatre was built in
King Street, Hammersmith from designs by George
Cole. The foundation stone was laid in January9192
by Tallulah Bankhead, and the theatre opened on 14
September 1929. It had a lavish interior and gelar
stage with a fly tower.

In the 1930s, most super cinemas worth their salt h

an orchestra. The Commodore Grand Orchestra was

under the baton of Joseph Muscant and the resgieema organist was Harry Davidson. It was considegood
enough to make records . Two recordings were rf@adie newly established Decca label in 1930 duehtin 1934
a further two sides were recorded for EMI's Regahaphone label. On Saturday mornings it openedlL&801 At
twelve noon there was an hour long orchestral avrickowed by two films, the news and at leaskethtive variety
acts—all for ninepence (in today’'s currency: fand a half pence)

In 1934 the building had been taken over by ABC aab used exclusively as a cinema. In the late0496
frequently abandoned films for live stage shows amiacerts, cashing in on the rock’n’roll boom yeark January
1959 the Commodore staged the touring version % T'Oh, Boy!” success, treating the audience to an
extravaganza of British Rock 'n' Roll at its velsh with Cliff Richard, Lord Rockingham's X1, TBallas Boys ,
the Vernon Girls and Vince Taylor & his Playboysin 1963 the Commodore succumbed to bingo, artdhjeenty
years later it was demolished. An office block wmslt on the site, and housed the Australian arldompany
Quantas in the 1980s.

CORONATION, Manor Park

1911 Opened as a cine-variety

1921 Enlarged and extended

1938 Stage use ceased and used exclusively asraain
1960c Used for bingo

1985 Converted to a snooker club

2009 Some restoration and re-opened as a banduet ha

The Coronation Electric Theatre opened in 1911ligdesl by

architect Stanley Burwood. It had a seating capamfit600.

In 1920 it underwent major enlargement and becarsaper’

cinema, re-opening as the New Coronation Cinem&8&ih

May 1921 with Mary Pickford in "Pollyanna”. Seatirigr

1,904 was provided in stalls and circle levels ahe
auditorium was decorated in a flamboyant Baroquyte sfThere were full stage facilities; prosceniusfet wide,
stage 20feet deep with three dressing rooms toigeder variety performances to accompany the filmgrammes.
It was equipped with a small organ and had an afliglity of a cinema cafe.

It was owned and operated by Abraham's SuburbaarStipemas Ltd. until October 1929 when it was taéeer by
Associated British Cinemas (ABC). At that time ttisema was wired for sound and became one of theifi the
area to screen 'talkies'. A new organ was instailet932 which was a Compton 3Manual/8Ranks (didjdStage
shows ceased in 1938 and the cafe was closed dhengar in the early 1940's.

The Coronation Cinema closed on 23rd November 1@th ABC surrendered the premises to Mecca, whimgmb
club opened in January 1969. All freshly paintedhe lurid 'Mecca' colour-scheme, the Baroque stylerior was
actually enhanced by this treatment. Mecca birigeed early in 1985 and in July it was convertatd ia snooker
club, which only used the former stalls area arfialse ceiling was suspended over from the frorthefcircle to the
stage. The snooker club closed in February 2008 tlze building remained unused for a while. Irc®&aber 2009
the premises re-opened as the Royal Regency bamgynetll. The exterior was repainted. Internalfalse ceiling
and some sub-division was removed to reveal thginaii ceiling and decorative balcony fronts. Thieswvalls were
draped with curtains. The former Coronation Cindras a Grade Il Listed building.
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CORONET THEATRE, Notting Hill

1898 Opened

1916 Occasional use as a cinema

1923 Closed and became a full time cinema

1993 Some rebuilding but carried out with
sensitivity to possible future
architectural restoration.

Opened on 28 November 1898, designed by W.G.R.
Sprague, the Coronet had an enormous stage areéee5
wide by 40 feet deep.

In its first few years it attracted performers loé tcalibre of
Henry Irving and Sarah Bernhardt, though it relad its
pantomimes to balance the books. The theatre’snseco
annual pantomime “Babes in the Wood” (1899-190Q) ha
Vera Vere and Phyllis Dare as the Babes and wdstcdie
extremely spectacular.

The Coronet was involved in a court case in 190Berwit staged an
unauthorised adaptation of Thomas Hardy’s “TeshefDurbervilles”. The
play was withdrawn after Hardy took out an injuaanti In 1906 it staged a
season of plays performed in French, starring #misRn actress Mme Jane
Hading.

The venue was successful for a few years, but thbreak of the First
World War seems to have destroyed its business iantl916 it became a
full-time cinema. Until the complete ban of July0ZQ the Coronet was the
last cinema in London that not only allowed itsrpas to smoke but
positively encouraged them to do so. It is featurethe 1999 Hugh Grant/
Julia Roberts film. “Notting Hill”.

It is said that the Coronet is haunted—some claynthie ghost of a female
Cashier who was caught fiddling the Box Office ipte and when

confronted by the Manager, dashed out of his affiaa upstairs and threw
herself from the Balcony. Others claim it is a mghloost—a middle-aged
Edwardian actor, or more likely an actor/managderiding to watch a

performance from the circle.

COSMOTHEKA, Edgware Road

1857 Opened
1869 Closed
1876¢ Demolished

A music hall in Bell Street. It was managed byseldh Arnold Cave, who had pretensions of develotiiag
Cosmotheka into a great palace of variety. Cave avasry busy manager—with interests in several rothe
theatres, including many years running the Old Yhe, Marylebone, the Alhambra and the ElephantGastle
Theatre. However, he lacked the money to spenith@iCosmotheka and it lost its licence on safebugds.
The Cosmotheka claimed to have been the theatreevien Leno made his first public appearance.

COTTRELL'S PALACE

1905 Opened

1908 Closed

1911 Demolished and rebuilt as a cinema

Listed in the Guide to British Theatres as a desh&ld venue, but no further details are known.
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The interior of the first Covent Garden Theatre—awdng by Thomas Rowlandson

Covent Garden, the Second Theatre, 1810

Covent Garden, the Second Theatre, 1810

Covent Garden, the fire of 1856

COVENT GARDEN, ROYAL OPERA HOUSE

1732  Opened as Theatre Royal, Covent Garden
1792  Major rebuilding work

1808  Burnt down

1809 Second theatre built on same site

1847  Reconstructed as the Royal Italian Opera
1856 Burnt down

1858 Third theatre built - the Royal Ital@pera
1892 Name changed to Royal Opera House
1939 Closed and used by the Government
1946  Re-opened as the Royal Opera House
1964  Major rebuilding work

1982  Major extension built.

1998 Closed . Rebuilt & enlarged

1999 Re-opened

The first Covent Garden Theatre was built by JolehRs

a rival to Drury Lane. John Rich was a hugely sgséul
pantomimist. He also hit lucky with John Gay’s {iggr’s
Opera” (the show that “made Gay rich, and Rich jay”
Plays and opera alternated. David Garrick and Peg
Woffington were early stars. Handel staged opéhase.
Richard Brinsley Sheridan was manager there, John
Kemble and his sister, Sarah Siddons, were the geaga
when the first theatre burnt to the ground in 1808.

The rebuilt theatre opened with the “Old Price” Rie-

where the audiences objected to paying increasiegspr
For 61 days the audience rioted, troops were calleid

Finally Kemble gave in, and reduced the ticket gsito

their pre-fire levels.

Mrs Siddons retired in 1812. Charles Macready ntade
debut in 1816. A season of operas under Carl Maoia
Weber nearly bankrupted the theatre in the mid $3BQt

the popularity of the rising young star, Fanny Kéanb
saved the day. In 1833 Edmund Kean gave his final
performance—he collapsed onstage in the arms ofdms
The curtain was lowered in silence.

In 1847 the theatre was reopened as the Royarit&ipera
House. Just nine years later the second CovendeBar
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Theatre burnt to the ground. The third (and et
building opened in 1858. Opera stars like AdeliratiP
made this a very popular venue, and it began tacita
sophisticated opera audience—far removed from the
rowdy riots of earlier days. From 1888-1896 Augsst
Harris was the manager and the Opera House was
modernised. It continued to attract excellent endés
and top class singers. From 1919 onwards Sir Teoma
Beecham was closely associated with the fortunahef
opera.

During World War Two the Covent Garden Theatre was
used as a dance hall for the troops. It reopeméd®46 as
the home of the national opera and the Sadlersswell
Ballet . As the home for the renamed Royal Operc a
Royal Ballet, every important opera and ballet nashe
the second half of the 20th Century has appeardbeat
Royal Opera House, Covent Garden. It is a worisd<l|
theatre, and the major artistic flagship of thearat

London Postcard Company

Pawel Libera:

The exterior of the third Covent Garden Theatre 999

In the late 1990s it suffered scandalous finarmiablems—ijust at the time it was being closed fomagor rebuilding.
The newly built stage-house incorporates elabaraehanised scenery handling equipment and haddoye stage
elevators and powered flying. The new extension emdrgement of the Opera House was a triumph mpsghetic
architecture and restoration and the newly regée@r@pera seems set for a successful future.

CRITERION THEATRE, Piccadilly

1874 Opened

1884 Reconstructed

1989 Closed for redevelopment of site
1992 Rebuilt and reopened

Built on the site of the 17th Century White Bean,lrthis
theatre was created in the basements of the neterion
restaurant. As the world’s first underground theatrwas a
great novelty. Even the Upper Circle was reachgd b
descending stairs. It was necessary to pump & time
theatre to prevent the audience from suffocating.

Originally under the management of the burlesquigewH.J. Byron, within five years the Criterioraw taken over
by Charles Wyndham. Just three years later thdrtheas closed on safety grounds—how could theemagi escape
from a fire in an underground theatre? The Critetioderwent much reconstruction. More exits weeated and the
gas lighting was replaced with electricity. Thedtre gained a reputation for light comedy un&l &md of the century
when Arthur Henry Jones’s dramas of social crititidominated. During most of the First World Wae @riterion
staged “A Little Bit of Fluff” which ran for 1,24performances. In the 1920s Marie Tempest frequempeared, and
in the 1930s Terence Rattigan’s “French withoutrFeanjoyed a run of 1,039 performances.

Throughout the Second World War the theatre wad asea BBC Studio, regularly broadcasting the waatradio hit

“It's that Man Again” (ITMA), Six months after thend of the war, the Criterion returned to thease. The 1950s
saw a series of avant-garde plays, then the thsattied into a very mixed programme which rangednflbsen to

Ayckbourn, and plays like “Can’'t Pay Won't Pay” atigent”. Ray Cooney’s “Run For Your Wife” occupi@duch of

the 1980s with over 2,000 performances.

The underground location has always caused probldthsdampness and a disastrous flood caused mactage in
1985. The theatre closed in 1989 for major recansttn and the whole site was re-developed. Thitei@n
reopened in 1992. From 1995 it staged the Red&twkespeare Company version of all Shakespeplays
performed in 97 minutes.
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CROUCH END HIPPODROME AND OPERA HOUSE

1896 Opened as the Queen’s Hall in a convertedgphbluse
1897 Completely rebuilt as the Queen’s Opera House
1910 Renamed the Hippodrome

1915 Closed and used as a cinema during the war

1919 reopened for theatre use

1942 Badly damaged by bombs and subsequent fire

In 1896 an existing public house was converted amt@ntertainments hall and called the Queen’s Méthin

a year the Queen’s Hall was demolished and conipletbuilt as the Queen’s Opera House, designed by

Frank Matcham. It was renamed the Hippodrome in018&d mostly used as a cinema. It returned to
occasional theatre use in the early
1920s, but soon reverted to being used
mainly for film shows. The theatre
suffered bomb damage in 1942.

The premises were used for a short
while as a dancing school and then as
a mail-order warehouse, Everything
behind the facade was more or less
demolished after the war, but in 1997
the frontage was remodelled and the
original stained glass window
restored.

The premises were then used as a
fithess centre and gym.

CROYDON EMPIRE/HIPPODROME

1896 Opened as New National Hall and Grand Circus
1906 Rebuilt as Empire Palace

1930 Became the Empire Cinema

1938 Reopened as a variety theatre— Croydon Empire
1953 Closed and became the Eros Cinema

1959 Closed and demolished

The original circus building was reconstructed agadety theatre in
1906, but had begun to show the occasional silentbfy the Great War
years. With the advent of “talkies” the Croydon fira became a
cinema for eight years, but reverted to live showk938.

Nick Charlesworth, Badger Press

In the 1950s, Croydon Empire was home to the longesr strike by

the Musicians Unions. On August 11th 1952 the mivae orchestra
went on
strike because the manager, Arthur Dixon, wished
to reduce their number to eight during the summer
months. The strike lasted eighteen weeks—the
longest of its kind in music-hall history—ending on
Christmas Eve when a ten-man orchestra returned
to work.

However, they were not in work for long, since the
theatre closed shortly after that pantomime and
returned to use as a cinema—named the Eros. At
the end of the 1950’s the cinema closed and the
building was demolished.
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There is some confusion concerning the theatre knasvthe Croydon Hippodrome. Some authoritiesiclai
the Empire and the Hippodrome were the same veother suggest the Hippodrome was a completely
separate building.

One listing for the Hippodrome is as follows:

1800c Opened as the Theatre Royal, Croydon

1867 Rebuilt as the New Theatre Royal

1898 Completely rebuilt and opened as Empire Thea#tiarieties
1911 Name changed to Hippodrome

1956 Closed and demolished

Is this actually the Croydon Empire with a new naamal just a few changes of date? There are other
references to theatres or theatre companies indoroy Repertory Theatre; Davis Theatre, (g.v.); Peke
Theatre, (g.v.); Princess’ Theatre; Royal Olympiedtre; and Shakespeare Memorial Theatre. Moeares

is needed to establish whether these are altenaates for the Croydon theatres already listed,hather any

of them are separate buildings.

CROYDON GRAND

1896 Opened
1959 Closed and demolished.

The Grand Theatre and Opera House,
High Street, Croydon opened on 6 April
1896 with the touring production of

“Trilby".

It was a three tier theatre with five boxes

each side of the proscenium (one at stage

level, and two each at Dress Circle and

“Family Circle” level.) The stalls were

upholstered in amber coloured plush and

the circle was upholstered in brilliant

blue. The curtains were blue and amber,

and the whole theatre was decorated in cream add giere was a large workshop and scenic stutkholzed.

In spite of its decoration, throughout its life t@¥oydon Grand was always a “Number Two” venue. In
November 1922 it staged a season presented byheeS Doran Shakespearean Company, including agyou
Ralph Richardson in the cast. By 1925 the manager Robert Arthur, and by 1932 it was managed by th
Grand Theatre Croydon Ltd.

It closed in the early part of the Second World Waen Croydon was extensively bombed. In thenatset of
1942 it reopened under the control of Hammer Priodlos—and it began a highly successful run of ahnu
pantomimes. The profits from the pantomime kbpttheatre going for the rest of the year—espegcialting
the successive years when the popular Dickie Hasset the “star”. (Dickie Hassett's catchphrase Wasge
Lumps! Large Lumps™)

At the end of the 1940s and early 1950s the thedbe®g Brothers (Derek, Reg and Stanley) ran teper
seasons here and at Penge Empire. The produetid interchange, playing one week at each oftraues.
with every production playing a week at each theeatrheir company was called the Globe Players.

In the early 1950s Cyril Fletcher carried on theagrpantomime tradition, but along with many othé¢he
Grand did not survive the television age. It ctbge 1957 and despite considerable local oppositiowas
demolished in April 1959.
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CRYSTAL PALACE THEATRE

1890 Opened
1900 Only rarely used for theatre productions
1936 Closed after fire damage

The original Crystal Palace had been built in Hyde
Park for the 1851 Great Exhibition. The whole
building was dismantled and re-created in Sydenham.
It was enlarged and adapted in the ensuing yeads, a
included an
amusement park, a
menagerie and
exhibition rooms.

Until the opening of
Wembley Stadium in
1924 it was used for
Football Cup Finals.

Plans for a proper theatre to be included withim €rystal Palace complex were
first drawn up in 1883, but it was not until 18%@&t the building was completed.
It had a seating capacity of 1,739. It was reguladed for performances up to
1900, after which it seems to have had only occasitheatrical use.

The whole complex caught fire during the night @f Blov 1936 and was
destroyed. All that survived were the strange tplasast prehistoric animals
which were later on permanent display in the remiaent Crystal Palace Park.

CURTAYNE, Finsbury Fields

1577 Opened
1642 Closed by Government order

This was London’s second playhouse, built by a siaécr called Henry Laneman on a piece of land in
Finsbury Fields, Shoreditch, called Curtayne Cldiseias an “open air” theatre and very similar iple to its
neighbour, the Theatre. It is thought that JaBuwbage was initially responsible for running btk venues.
Shakespeare’s “Henry V" was first performed herd @e Curtayne is, indeed, “the Wooden O” refetredy

the Chorus. “Romeo and Juliet” was possibly fpstformed here. In 1598 Jonson’s “Every Man in his
Humour” had its first performance with a cast imtthg Richard Burbage, Henry Condell, John Hemmings,
Christopher Beeston, Will Kemp and William Shakespeas Mr Knowall.

There are no records of the Curtayne after 162%jths likely that it remained open until all thess were
closed when the Civil War broke out. It was prdpademolished in 1648 when the Puritans ordered the
destruction of all theatres.




